
EXECUTIVE SERVICES 

TONBRIDGE & MALLING
BOROUGH COUNCIL

Chief Executive
Julie Beilby BSc (Hons) MBA

Gibson Building
Gibson Drive
Kings Hill, West Malling
Kent ME19 4LZ
West Malling (01732) 844522

NB - This agenda contains proposals, 
recommendations and options. These do 
not represent Council policy or decisions 
until they have received proper 
consideration through the full decision 
making process.

Contact: Committee Services
committee.services@tmbc.gov.uk

19 September 2017

To: MEMBERS OF THE AREA 2 PLANNING COMMITTEE
(Copies to all Members of the Council)

Dear Sir/Madam

Your attendance is requested at a meeting of the Area 2 Planning Committee to be held 
in the Civic Suite, Gibson Building, Kings Hill, West Malling on Wednesday, 
27th September, 2017 commencing at 7.30 pm. Deposited plans will be available for 
Members' inspection for half an hour before the start of the meeting.

Yours faithfully

JULIE BEILBY

Chief Executive

A G E N D A

PART 1 - PUBLIC

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 

Public Document Pack



3. Minutes 5 - 6

To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting of Area 2 Planning 
Committee held on 16 August 2017 

Decisions to be taken by the Committee

4. Development Control 7 - 10

Introduction and Glossary 

5. TM/17/01289/FL - Dewpond, Platt Common, Platt 11 - 24

6. Urgent Items 

Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent due to special 
circumstances and of which notice has been given to the Chief Executive. 

Matters for consideration in Private

7. Exclusion of Press and Public 25 - 26

The Chairman to move that the press and public be excluded from the remainder 
of the meeting during consideration of any items the publication of which would 
disclose exempt information. 

PART 2 - PRIVATE

8. Update on Enforcement Actions 27 - 30

Reason:  LGA 1972 Sch 12A Paragraph 2 – Information likely to reveal information 
about an individual 

9. Urgent Items 

Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent due to special 
circumstances and of which notice has been given to the Chief Executive. 



MEMBERSHIP

Cllr Mrs F A Kemp (Chairman)
Cllr S R J Jessel (Vice-Chairman)

Cllr Mrs J A Anderson
Cllr M A C Balfour
Cllr Mrs S M Barker
Cllr R P Betts
Cllr M A Coffin
Cllr Mrs S L Luck
Cllr B J Luker
Cllr P J Montague

Cllr L J O'Toole
Cllr S C Perry
Cllr H S Rogers
Cllr Miss J L Sergison
Cllr T B Shaw
Cllr Miss S O Shrubsole
Cllr M Taylor



This page is intentionally left blank



AP 1

TONBRIDGE AND MALLING BOROUGH COUNCIL

AREA 2 PLANNING COMMITTEE

Wednesday, 16th August, 2017

Present: Cllr Mrs F A Kemp (Chairman), Cllr Mrs J A Anderson, Cllr R P Betts, 
Cllr M A Coffin, Cllr Mrs S L Luck, Cllr B J Luker, Cllr P J Montague, 
Cllr L J O'Toole, Cllr S C Perry, Cllr H S Rogers, 
Cllr  Miss J L Sergison, Cllr T B Shaw and Cllr M Taylor

Councillor O C Baldock was also present pursuant to Council 
Procedure Rule No 15.21.

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors S R J Jessel 
(Vice-Chairman), M A C Balfour, Mrs S M Barker and 
Miss S O Shrubsole

PART 1 - PUBLIC

AP2 17/36   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest in accordance with the Code of 
Conduct.

AP2 17/37   MINUTES 

RESOLVED:  That the Minutes of the meeting of the Area 2 Planning 
Committee held on 5 July 2017 be approved as a correct record and 
signed by the Chairman.

DECISIONS TAKEN UNDER DELEGATED POWERS IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH PARAGRAPH 3, PART 3 OF THE 
CONSTITUTION

AP2 17/38   DEVELOPMENT CONTROL 

Decisions were taken on the following applications subject to the pre-
requisites, informatives, conditions or reasons for refusal set out in the 
report of the Director of Planning, Housing and Environmental Health or 
in the variations indicated below.  Any supplementary reports were 
tabled at the meeting. 

Members of the public addressed the meeting where the required notice 
had been given and their comments were taken into account by the 
Committee when determining the application.  Speakers are listed under 
the relevant planning application shown below.  

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



AREA 2 PLANNING COMMITTEE 16 August 2017

AP2

AP2 17/39   TM/16/03630/OA - NEPICAR SAND QUARRY, MAIDSTONE ROAD, 
PLATT 

Outline Application including details of access: New access road from 
the East side of Platt Industrial Estate, through Nepicar sandpit to join 
the A25 Maidstone Road at Nepicar Sand Quarry, Maidstone Road, 
Platt. 

RESOLVED:  That planning permission be GRANTED in accordance 
with the submitted details, conditions, reasons and informatives set out 
in the report of the Director of Planning, Housing and Environmental 
Health.

[Speakers:  Mr R Hook and Mrs P Dakin, members of the public and 
Mr T Bonser, Platt Parish Council – applicant]

[Councillor Taylor abstained from voting to reduce the risk of potential 
challenge on any perceived pre-determination and/or bias on the 
grounds of his involvement and support of the application.  However, it 
was noted that no undue influence was present during the discussion.]

AP2 17/40   EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

There were no items considered in private.

The meeting ended at 8.10 pm

Page 6



1

TONBRIDGE & MALLING BOROUGH COUNCIL

AREA PLANNING COMMITTEES

Report of the Director of Planning, Housing & Environmental Health

Part I – Public

Section A – For Decision

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL
In accordance with the Local Government Access to Information Act 1985 and the Local 
Government Act 1972 (as amended), copies of background papers, including 
representations in respect of applications to be determined at the meeting, are available 
for inspection at Planning Services, Gibson Building, Gibson Drive, Kings Hill from 08.30 
hrs until 17.00 hrs on the five working days which precede the date of this meeting.

Members are invited to inspect the full text of representations received prior to the 
commencement of the meeting.

Local residents’ consultations and responses are set out in an abbreviated format 
meaning: (number of letters despatched/number raising no objection (X)/raising objection 
(R)/in support (S)).

All applications may be determined by this Committee unless (a) the decision would be in 
fundamental conflict with the plans and strategies which together comprise the 
Development Plan; or (b) in order to comply with Rule 15.24 of the Council and Committee 
Procedure Rules.

GLOSSARY of Abbreviations and Application types 

used in reports to Area Planning Committees as at 23 September 2015

AAP Area of Archaeological Potential
AODN Above Ordnance Datum, Newlyn
AONB Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty
APC1 Area 1 Planning Committee 
APC2 Area 2 Planning Committee 
APC3 Area 3 Planning Committee 
ASC Area of Special Character
BPN Building Preservation Notice
BRE Building Research Establishment
CA Conservation Area
CPRE Council for the Protection of Rural England
DEFRA Department for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



2

DETR Department of the Environment, Transport & the Regions
DCLG Department for Communities and Local Government
DCMS Department for Culture, the Media and Sport 
DLADPD Development Land Allocations Development Plan Document 
DMPO Development Management Procedure Order
DPD Development Plan Document 
DPHEH Director of Planning, Housing & Environmental Health
DSSL Director of Street Scene & Leisure
EA Environment Agency
EH English Heritage
EMCG East Malling Conservation Group
FRA Flood Risk Assessment
GDPO Town & Country Planning (General Development Procedure) 

Order 2015
GPDO Town & Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 

Order 2015
HA Highways Agency
HSE Health and Safety Executive
HMU Highways Management Unit
KCC Kent County Council
KCCVPS Kent County Council Vehicle Parking Standards
KDD Kent Design (KCC)  (a document dealing with housing/road 

design)
KWT Kent Wildlife Trust
LB Listed Building (Grade I, II* or II)
LDF Local Development Framework
LLFA Lead Local Flood Authority
LMIDB Lower Medway Internal Drainage Board
LPA Local Planning Authority
LWS Local Wildlife Site
MAFF Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food
MBC Maidstone Borough Council
MC Medway Council (Medway Towns Unitary Authority)
MCA Mineral Consultation Area
MDEDPD Managing Development and the Environment Development 

Plan Document
MGB Metropolitan Green Belt
MKWC Mid Kent Water Company
MWLP Minerals & Waste Local Plan
NE Natural England
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework
PC Parish Council
PD Permitted Development
POS Public Open Space
PPG Planning Policy Guidance 
PROW Public Right Of Way

Page 8



3

SDC Sevenoaks District Council
SEW South East Water
SFRA Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (prepared as background to 

the LDF)
SNCI Site of Nature Conservation Interest
SPAB Society for the Protection of Ancient Buildings
SPD Supplementary Planning Document (a statutory policy 

document supplementary to the LDF)
SPN Form of Statutory Public Notice
SSSI Site of Special Scientific Interest
SWS Southern Water Services
TC Town Council
TCAAP Tonbridge Town Centre Area Action Plan
TCS Tonbridge Civic Society
TMBC Tonbridge & Malling Borough Council
TMBCS Tonbridge & Malling Borough Core Strategy (part of the Local 

Development Framework)
TMBLP Tonbridge & Malling Borough Local Plan
TWBC Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
UCO Town and Country Planning Use Classes Order 1987 (as 

amended)
UMIDB Upper Medway Internal Drainage Board
WLP Waste Local Plan (KCC)

AGPN/AGN Prior Notification: Agriculture
AT Advertisement
CA Conservation Area Consent (determined by Secretary 

of State if made by KCC or TMBC)
CAX Conservation Area Consent:  Extension of Time
CNA Consultation by Neighbouring Authority
CR3 County Regulation 3 (KCC determined)
CR4 County Regulation 4
DEPN Prior Notification: Demolition
DR3 District Regulation 3
DR4 District Regulation 4
EL Electricity
ELB Ecclesiastical Exemption Consultation (Listed Building)
ELEX Overhead Lines (Exemptions)
FC Felling Licence
FL Full Application
FLX Full Application:  Extension of Time
FLEA Full Application with Environmental Assessment
FOPN Prior Notification: Forestry
GOV Consultation on Government Development
HN Hedgerow Removal Notice
HSC Hazardous Substances Consent

Page 9



4

LB Listed Building Consent (determined by Secretary of State if 
made by KCC or TMBC)

LBX Listed Building Consent:  Extension of Time
LCA Land Compensation Act - Certificate of Appropriate 

Alternative Development
LDE Lawful Development Certificate: Existing Use or Development
LDP Lawful Development Certificate: Proposed Use or 

Development
LRD Listed Building Consent Reserved Details
MIN Mineral Planning Application (KCC determined)
NMA Non Material Amendment
OA Outline Application
OAEA Outline Application with Environment Assessment
OAX Outline Application:  Extension of Time
RD Reserved Details
RM Reserved Matters (redefined by Regulation from August 

2006)
TEPN56/TEN Prior Notification: Telecoms
TNCA Notification: Trees in Conservation Areas
TPOC Trees subject to TPO
TRD Tree Consent Reserved Details
TWA Transport & Works Act 1992 (determined by Secretary of 

State)
WAS Waste Disposal Planning Application (KCC determined)
WG Woodland Grant Scheme Application

Page 10



Area 2 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 27 September 2017

Platt
Borough Green And 
Long Mill

11 May 2017 TM/17/01289/FL

Proposal: Construction of a detached 2 storey 4 bedroomed dwelling with 
ancillary parking and access

Location: Dewpond Platt Common Platt Sevenoaks Kent TN15 8JX 
Applicant: Mr Joseph Ellis
Go to: Recommendation

1. Description:

1.1 The application proposes the erection of a 4-bedroomed detached dwelling within 
the rear garden of Dewpond with its principal front elevation facing south.

1.2 The proposed dwelling is to measure 15.15m wide x 8.8m deep, with eaves 3.7m 
high and ridge 7.2m high.  It is to be set back about 6m from the west side 
boundary, 7m from the east side boundary, 17m from the rear (north) boundary 
and 10m from the new dividing boundary with the host dwelling (south).  A north-
south cross-section of the site shows that the dwelling will be set between 0.25-
1.0m below the former existing ground level. 

1.3 The dwelling is primarily of a chalet bungalow design with a two storey front half 
hipped gable element projecting about 850mm forward of the main front wall 
alignment.  Three flat roofed dormers are proposed within the front elevation and 4 
similar dormers within the rear elevation.  A chimney stack is proposed to the west 
side elevation of the dwelling. 

1.4 The external materials have not been specified but the application form indicates 
that these would consist of brickwork, tile hanging and roof tiles although the 
elevations also appear to indicate render panels at ground floor level.

1.5 The existing access drive to Dewpond is to be used to access a new access drive 
situated adjacent to the eastern side boundary of the site, with an open parking 
and turning area provided in front and to the east side of the proposed dwelling.

1.6 A Planning Statement, Design and Access Statement and Site Survey (dated 22 
February 2016) have been submitted with the application.

2. Reason for reporting to Committee:

2.1 At the request of Councillor Taylor in order to consider whether this is 
overdevelopment and to consider implications of the previous appeal decision.

Page 11

Agenda Item 5



Area 2 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 27 September 2017

3. The Site:

3.1 The site is approximately 75m deep and 30m wide and is located within the 
southwestern part of Platt Common, about 200m along the private access road 
that extends south from the A25 and then west.  The site is large and regular in 
shape and is occupied by a single storey low-level colt-style bungalow set at a 
level lower than the private access road.  A garage/outbuilding is situated to the 
east of the dwelling.  A gravelled parking area is provided within the front of the 
site. The land slopes markedly down from south to north (6m variance).  Thick 
established landscaping exists along the west side boundary.  Less substantial 
vegetation also exists along the north and west boundaries of the site. 

3.2 The site lies within the settlement confines of Platt and a Water Catchment Area.  
Platt Common area comprises primarily detached dwellings on generous sized 
plots that vary in shape.  

3.3 The two storey dwelling of Halcyon House, which fronts Maidstone Road, lies to 
the rear of the site.  The rear boundaries of the properties of Hinton, Fir Cottage 
and Crofton adjoin the east side boundary of the application site.  The dwelling of 
Straun lies to the west.

3.4 Platt Common is an unadopted road that provides access to some 30 or so 
dwellings from the A25 Maidstone Road.  The road was previously un-made and in 
a relatively poor condition but has been surfaced with bitumen.  The road is also 
used as a pedestrian route by parents and children going to and from Platt School, 
which lies adjacent to the Platt Common/A25 junction.

4. Planning History (relevant):

TM/71/10989/OLD grant with conditions 27 May 1971

Outline Application for detached dwelling and garage for D.A. Benbow, Esq.
 

TM/73/10758/OLD grant with conditions 12 January 1973

Two bedroom 'colt' bungalow, new access.
 

TM/92/00550/OA Refuse 13 August 1992

Outline Application for the erection of one detached dwelling and garaging
 

TM/15/00353/OA Refuse
Appeal Allowed

13 April 2015
3 February 2016

Outline Application: Construction of a detached dwelling with ancillary parking 
and access, with matters of appearance and landscaping to be reserved

 

Page 12



Area 2 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 27 September 2017

TM/16/00893/FL Application Withdrawn 26 May 2016

Construction of a detached dwelling at the rear of Dewpond with associated 
access and parking

5. Consultees:

5.1 PC:  Objection to the application for the following reasons:

 The new dwelling is out of keeping with the dwellings in Platt Common 

 The development does not reflect the spacious character of the properties in 
Platt Common

5.2 KCC (H+T):  The application proposes the development of an additional home 
using an existing access and with adequate parking and turning facilities provided. 
I can confirm that I do not wish to raise objection.

5.3 EA:  We have no comments to make on this planning application as it falls outside 
our remit as a statutory planning consultee.

5.4 Private Reps: 5/0X/5R/0S.  The objections raised have been summarised below:

 The proposal would be overdevelopment

 Increased vehicle movements creating traffic problems in the lane and safety 
concerns at the junction between Platt Common and the A25 

 Loss of privacy from overlooking 

 Impact on outlook and visual amenity

 The dwelling would be overbearing to neighbouring properties

 Noise impact from the driveway adjacent to neighbouring properties

 The development would set a precedent and impact on property values

 Possible impact on wildlife on the site

 Potential damage to the lane from construction vehicles

 Drainage concern 

6. Determining Issues:

6.1 An outline application (TM/15/00353/OA) for a new dwelling (3 bedroomed chalet 
bungalow) in the rear garden of Dewpond (with matters of appearance and 
landscaping reserved) was refused by the Local Planning Authority in April 2015 
under delegated powers.  The application was refused due to the siting of the 
dwelling impacting on the spaciousness of the locality and therefore harming the 
character of the area and adversely impacting on the amenities of neighbouring 
properties.  It was also considered that the cumulative impact of the development 
on traffic along Platt Common would be harmful to safety within Platt Common.

Page 13



Area 2 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 27 September 2017

6.2 The application was subsequently allowed at Appeal in February 2016, which 
forms an important material consideration for the assessment of this revised 
scheme.  

6.3 The main issues are whether the development would affect the form, pattern and 
character of the area, visual amenity of the locality, highway safety or 
neighbouring residential amenity.

Character, Visual Amenity and Setting of Listed Building:

6.4 The settlement of Platt is defined as a rural settlement where new development 
will be restricted to minor development appropriate to the scale and character of 
the settlement, as stated in Policy CP13 of the TMBCS.

6.5 Policy CP24 of the TMBCS requires development to be of a high quality and be 
well designed to respect the site and its surroundings in terms of its scale, layout, 
siting, character and appearance.  Policy SQ1 of the MDE DPD advises that new 
development should protect, conserve and, where possible, enhance the character 
and local distinctiveness of the area including its setting in relation to the pattern of 
the settlement, roads and surrounding landscape.  

6.6 In respect to the effect on the form, pattern and spatial character of the area, the 
Planning Inspector was clear in concluding that the previous proposal for a new 
dwelling in the rear garden of Dewpond would not result in any significant harm to 
the spaciousness and character of the area.  The Inspector advised that “the siting 
and alignment of individual houses does not follow any particular prevailing pattern 
… [and the] site is larger than several others around the site and both the plots 
resulting from the proposed subdivision would still be of a size generally in keeping 
with those existing in the vicinity of the site.”  The density of the development is 9 
dwellings per hectare, which is comparable with the rest of Platt Common.

6.7 The revised proposal is very similar to the scheme approved at Appeal, providing 
a dwelling of a slightly larger footprint (4m wider/similar depth) in a similar position 
on the site and the two plots to be created would be similar in their size.  As a 
result, I am satisfied that the revised scheme in terms of its footprint, layout and 
plot size would not harm the pattern or spatial character of development in the 
area based upon the Inspector’s conclusions on these issues.      

6.8 In relation to the previous scheme, the Planning Inspector also advised that “in 
terms of scale, there are a mixture of dwelling sizes in the vicinity of the site 
including two storey properties and bungalows … [and that] the scale of the 
proposed house would allow it to sit comfortably upon its plot and would not be 
larger or higher than several other existing developments in the vicinity of the site.”  
Subject to its appearance being satisfactory, the Inspector concluded that the 
proposal “would not appear as visually incongruous or out of keeping with the 
scale of existing development in the surrounding area.”

Page 14



Area 2 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 27 September 2017

6.9 The revised dwelling is larger in scale compared to the dwelling approved by the 
Planning Inspectorate, proposing an increase in height of about 1.1m (6.1m to 
7.2m) and an increase in width of about 3.9m (11.27m to 15.15m).  It also 
introduces a 2 storey front gable feature.  In light of the mix of dwelling sizes in the 
area though, I do not consider that the revised dwelling would be of an overall size 
and scale that would make it out of keeping with the surrounding dwellings 
sufficient to warrant refusal.  The dwelling will also be cut into the slope, being set 
between 0.25-1.0m below the previous ground level, which will reduce its overall 
visible scale.

6.10 The dwelling has been designed with a traditional dual pitched roof with half hip 
ends and modest eaves.  A more prominent half hipped gable element has been 
designed in to the front elevation which would provide an appropriate level of 
visual subservience to the dwelling.  The front and rear dormers are of a simple 
flat roofed design but are of a size that is proportionate to the roof and as such 
they would adequately complement the building’s form and character.  Overall, I 
am of the view that the dwelling design would not be at odds with the design and 
appearance of other dwellings in the area and therefore is acceptable.

6.11 A landscaping schedule and boundary treatments have been shown on the 
submitted Proposed Site Pan.  The existing trees around the perimeter boundaries 
of the site are to be retained and a 1m high timber sleeper retaining wall is 
proposed to divide the new plot from that of the host dwelling.  A new 2m high 
closeboarded fence is proposed across the rear boundary.  The existing lap and 
closeboarded fencing to the side boundaries are to be retained.  The type of hard 
surfacing to the driveway and parking area has not been specified but this can be 
required by condition. 

6.12 Accordingly, I am satisfied that the proposed development would not significantly 
harm the form, pattern or character of the area or the visual amenity of the locality.  
The proposal therefore accords with Policies CP1, CP13 and CP24 of the TMBCS 
and SQ1 of the MDE DPD, as well as Section 7 (Requiring good design) of the 
NPPF.

Parking/Highway Safety:

6.13 The scheme provides access down the east side of the host dwelling to an open 
hard surfaced parking and turning area that would provide parking for more than 2 
cars independently, which would accord with the Council’s adopted car parking 
standards (Kent Design Guide: Interim Guidance Note 3: Residential Parking) 

6.14 The local Highway Authority (KCC Highways and Transportation) has reviewed the 
scheme and has advised that they raise no objection to the development on 
highway grounds.

6.15 Concern has been raised about the cumulative effect that additional traffic from a 
new dwelling within Platt Common would have on pedestrian safety within Platt 

Page 15



Area 2 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 27 September 2017

Common (in particular school children walking to and from school) and the effect 
of such additional traffic on highway safety at the Platt Common/A25 junction.

6.16 In the appeal decision for the previous scheme relating to the application site, the 
Inspector (after taking into account the previous relevant appeal decisions on this 
issue) concluded that the proposal would not be detrimental to highway safety.  
The Inspector advised that the very limited increase in expected traffic movements 
arising from the proposal for one new dwelling is unlikely to result in any significant 
harm to safety of pedestrians or vehicles using the road.  It was also concluded 
that the proposal would not lead to any significant highway safety risk in respect to 
the junction given the new sightline standards, which accord with the guidance in 
Manual for Streets, along with the past reduction in the speed limit on the A25 
from 40mph to 30mph. 

6.17 Notwithstanding the larger size and extra bedroom, I do not consider that the 
current revised proposal would materially alter the view expressed by the 
Inspector, as discussed above, and therefore I am satisfied that the development 
would not result in any significant harm to highway safety and that any residual 
cumulative impacts on the transport network would not be ‘severe’ which is the 
test in the NPPF.  The proposal therefore accords with Policy SQ8 of the MDE 
DPD and paragraph 32 of the NPPF. 

Neighbouring Amenity:

6.18 In respect to the impact of the proposed dwelling on neighbouring privacy the 
Planning Inspector, after taking into account the sloping site, significant distances 
from the front and rear elevations to neighbouring properties and the “modest 
scale of the proposal, meaning that windows would not be located at a particularly 
high level”, concluded that it would not result in any significant loss of privacy for 
the occupiers of neighbouring properties.

6.19 It is noted that the dwelling has been re-orientated slightly to a more linear position 
on the site so the rear elevation faces the rear boundary.  The rear elevation of the 
dwelling is now 1m closer to the rear boundary and provides more dormer 
windows overall and the dormer windows would sit 0.5m higher up within this 
elevation compared with the previously approved dwelling.  However, these 
windows would still be set back 17m from the rear boundary, which is considered 
to be a substantial distance.  There are no windows proposed within the side flank 
elevations.  Established mature trees and shrubs screen the dwelling from Straun 
to the west.  

6.20 The Inspector also considered that the proposed driveway along the rear gardens 
of the adjacent properties would not result in any significant loss of privacy to 
neighbours and advised that there was the opportunity for additional boundary 
screening to be provided.

Page 16



Area 2 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 27 September 2017

6.21 Accordingly, the proposal is not considered to result in a harmful loss of privacy to 
neighbouring properties, despite its greater size and extra bedroom.

6.22 In terms of impact on outlook and visual amenity of neighbours, it is noted that the 
Inspector, in relation to the previous scheme, stated that “given the separation 
distances to neighbouring properties and modest scale of the proposal no 
unacceptably overbearing impacts would result.”

6.23 The dwelling will be 1.1m higher than that for the previous scheme and will be set 
slightly closer to the adjoining boundaries.  However, the set back from the rear 
and side boundaries and the separation distances to the neighbouring dwellings 
and their private amenities spaces are still considered to be substantial and the 
dwelling is to be partially set into the slope of the land.  Additional tree plantings 
along the north and east boundaries can be required by condition to further screen 
the dwelling from adjoining properties.  I am therefore satisfied that the proposed 
development would not harm outlook or visual amenity of neighbouring properties.

Other Matters:

6.24 The site is within a Water Catchment Area.  The Inspector imposed a condition on 
the appeal permission for the previous scheme requiring details of foul and surface 
water disposal to be submitted for approval due to the uncertainty expressed 
within the application details for the means of disposal.  The applicant has now 
advised that foul water disposal is to be to the mains sewer and will be connected 
to the existing system of Dewpond.  This has been shown on the Proposed Site 
Plan.  It is noted that the EA does not consider that the development is within their 
remit and therefore they have not commented on the scheme.  It has been 
specified that surface water is to be directed to soakaways and, as there are no 
concerns with contamination on the site, I do not consider it necessary to impose a 
condition relating to surface water disposal as this will be adequately dealt with 
under Building Regulations. 

6.25 The issue of wildlife on the site has been raised by several representors; however 
the Inspector in respect to the previous scheme advised that “there is no firm 
evidence that the site is of any particular wildlife value or that the proposal would 
result in any significant harm in this regard”.  I do not consider that there are any 
circumstances surrounding the site or this current proposal that would alter this 
view and no evidence has been submitted to indicate that the passage of time 
since February 2016 has altered that conclusion.

Other Matters:

6.26 The concerns regarding the impact of construction works associated with any such 
development and the effect of such development on property values are not 
material considerations that would affect the planning merits of the scheme. 

Page 17



Area 2 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 27 September 2017

Conclusion:

6.27 In light of the above, the proposed development is considered to satisfy the 
relevant provisions of the Development Plan and the NPPF, and therefore it is 
recommended that the application be approved.

7. Recommendation:

7.1 Grant Planning Permission in accordance with the following submitted details: 
Planning Statement  received 10.05.2017, Design and Access Statement    
received 10.05.2017, Site Plan  3927-PD-600  received 10.05.2017, Plan  3927-
PD-601 Levels received 10.05.2017, Proposed Plans and Elevations  3927-PD-
602  received 10.05.2017, Topographical Survey    received 07.06.2017, Other  
Amendment to Application Form  received 12.09.2017, subject to the following 
conditions:

Conditions 

1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 
years from the date of this permission.

Reason:  In pursuance of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

2 No development above ground level shall take place until details and samples of 
materials to be used externally have been submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority, and the development shall be carried out in accordance with 
the approved details.

Reason:  To ensure that the development does not harm the character and 
appearance of the area or the visual amenity of the locality.

3 No development shall take place until a plan showing the proposed finished floor, 
eaves and ridge levels of the dwelling and finished ground levels in relation to the 
existing ground levels of the site and adjoining land has been submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority.  The works shall be carried out in strict 
accordance with the approved details.

Reason:  To ensure that the development does not harm the character of the area 
or visual amenity of the locality.

4 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any order amending, revoking and re-
enacting that Order), no development shall be carried out within Class A or B of 
Part 1 of Schedule 2 of that Order unless planning permission has been granted 
on an application relating thereto.

Reason:  To ensure that the development does not harm the character of the area 
or visual amenity of the locality.

Page 18



Area 2 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 27 September 2017

5 The dwelling shall not be occupied until there has been submitted to and approved 
by the Local Planning Authority a scheme of soft and hard landscaping and 
boundary treatment that includes additional tree plantings along the northwest 
(rear) and northeast (side) boundaries of the site.  All planting, seeding and turfing 
comprised in the approved scheme of landscaping shall be implemented during 
the first planting season following occupation of the buildings or the completion of 
the development, whichever is the earlier.  Any trees or shrubs removed, dying, 
being seriously damaged or diseased within 10 years of planting shall be replaced 
in the next planting season with trees or shrubs of similar size and species.  The 
boundary treatments shall be provided prior to occupation of the new dwelling.

Reason:  Pursuant to Section 197 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and 
to protect and enhance the appearance and character of the site and locality.

6 The dwelling shall not be occupied until the area shown on the submitted layout as 
vehicle parking space has been provided, surfaced and drained.  Thereafter it 
shall be kept available for such use and no permanent development, whether or 
not permitted by the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 2015 (or any order amending, revoking or re-enacting that 
Order) shall be carried out on the land so shown or in such a position as to 
preclude vehicular access to this reserved parking space.

Reason:  Development without provision of adequate accommodation for the 
parking of vehicles is likely to lead to hazardous on-street parking.

7 Foul water shall be disposed of directly to the mains sewer.

Reason:  To accord with the terms of the application.

8 The development hereby approved shall be carried out in such a manner as to 
avoid damage to the existing trees, including their root system, or other planting to 
be retained as part of the landscaping scheme, by observing the following:

(a)  All trees to be preserved shall be marked on site and protected during any 
operation on site by a fence erected at 0.5 metres beyond the canopy spread (or 
as otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority).

(b)  No fires shall be lit within the spread of the branches of the trees.

(c)  No materials or equipment shall be stored within the spread of the branches of 
the trees.

(d)  Any damage to trees shall be made good with a coating of fungicidal sealant.

(e)  No roots over 50mm diameter shall be cut and unless expressly authorised by 
this permission no buildings, roads or other engineering operations shall be 

Page 19



Area 2 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 27 September 2017

constructed or carried out within the spread of the branches of the trees.

(f)  Ground levels within the spread of the branches of the trees shall not be raised 
or lowered in relation to the existing ground level, except as may be otherwise 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

Reason:  Pursuant to Section 197 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and 
to protect the appearance and character of the site and locality.

Informatives

1 This permission does not purport to convey any legal right to undertake works or 
development on land outside the ownership of the applicant without the consent of 
the relevant landowners.

2 If the development hereby permitted involves the carrying out of building work or 
excavations along or close to a boundary with land owned by someone else, you 
are advised that, under the Party Wall, etc Act 1996, you may have a duty to give 
notice of your intentions to the adjoining owner before commencing this work.

3 During the demolition and construction phase, the hours of working (including 
deliveries) shall be restricted to Monday to Friday 07:30 hours - 18:30 hours; on 
Saturday 08:00 to 13:00 hours; with no work on Sundays or Public or Bank 
Holidays.

4 Tonbridge and Malling Borough Council operate a two wheeled bin and green box 
recycling refuse collection service from the boundary of the property.  Bins/boxes 
should be stored within the boundary of the property and placed at the nearest 
point to the public highway on the relevant collection day.

5 The Kent Fire & Rescue Service wishes to reduce the severity of property fires 
and the number of resulting injuries by the use of sprinkler systems in all new 
buildings and extensions.

6 In implementing the above consent, regard should be had to the requirements of 
the Bye-Laws of the Environment Agency, Orchard House, Endeavour Park, 
London Road, Addington, West Malling, Kent, ME19 5SH.

7 The proposed development is within a road which does not have formal street 
numbering and, if built, the new property will require a new name, which is 
required to be approved by the Borough Council, and post codes.  To discuss 
suitable house names you are asked to write to Street Naming & Numbering, 
Tonbridge and Malling Borough Council, Gibson Building, Gibson Drive, Kings Hill, 
West Malling, Kent, ME19 4LZ or e-mail to addresses@tmbc.gov.uk.  To avoid 
difficulties for first occupiers, you are advised to do this as soon as possible and, in 
any event, not less than one month before the new property is ready for 
occupation.

Page 20



Area 2 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 27 September 2017

Contact: Mark Fewster

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



Area 2 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 27 September 2017

TM/17/01289/FL

Dewpond Platt Common Platt Sevenoaks Kent TN15 8JX

Construction of a detached dwelling with ancillary parking and access

For reference purposes only.  No further copies may be made.  Crown copyright.  All rights reserved.  Tonbridge and Malling 
Borough Council Licence No. 100023300 2015.

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



The Chairman to move that the press and public be excluded from the remainder 
of the meeting during consideration of any items the publication of which would 
disclose exempt information.

ANY REPORTS APPEARING AFTER THIS PAGE CONTAIN EXEMPT 
INFORMATION

Page 25

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 27

Agenda Item 8
By virtue of paragraph(s) 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Development Control
	5 TM/17/01289/FL - Dewpond, Platt Common, Platt
	Map

	7 Exclusion of Press and Public
	8 Update on Enforcement Actions

